
222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Cabinet Agenda
Monday, 3 December 2018 at 6.00 pm
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex, TN34 3UY

If you are attending Muriel Matters House for this meeting, please enter the building via the
Tourist Information Centre entrance.  Members of public are advised that they will need to sign 
in to comply with health and safety legislation and will be escorted up to the Committee Room.

For further information, please contact Deniz Musa on 01424 451486 or email 
dmusa@hastings.gov.uk

Page No.

1.  Apologies for Absence
2.  Declaration of Interests
3.  Notification of Any Urgent Items

4.  Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting Held on 5 November 2018 1 - 6

5.  Notification of Additional Urgent Items

6.  Members' allowance index review 7 - 34
(Jane Hartnell, Director of Corporate Services and Governance)
(Council Decision)

7.  Hastings Country Park Visitor Centre 35 - 38
(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director, Environment & Place)
(Cabinet Decision)

8.  Joint Waste Contract Tenders 39 - 44
(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director, Environment & Place)
(Council Decision)

Public Document Pack



2

9.  Urgent Items (if any)

Exclusion of the Public

To resolve that the public be excluded from the meeting during 
the consideration of the items of business listed below because 
it is likely that if members of the public were present there would 
be disclosure to them of “exempt” information as defined in the 
paragraphs of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
referred to in the relevant report. 

10.  Joint Waste Contract Tenders
(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director, Environment & Place)
(Council Decision)

45 - 66

11.  Commercial Property Purchases
(Peter Grace, Assistant Director, Financial Services & Revenues)
(Cabinet Decision)

See 
supplement 
document

12.  Provision of cash flow loan to White Rock Neighbourhood ventures 
to support the purchase process of the Observer Building
(Victoria Conheady, Assistant Director, Regeneration & Culture)
(Cabinet Decision)

See 
supplement 
document



CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2018

CAB. 1

Present: Councillors Chowney (Chair), Forward (Vice-Chair), Batsford, S 
Beaney, Fitzgerald, Rogers, Lee and Patmore

109. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Minute Interest
Patmore 113 – Museum 

Committee Changes
Personal – He is a 
member of the 
Museums Committee

Rogers 115 – Urgency – 
Potential Development 
of Football Stadium and 
Sports Facilities at 
Tilekiln.

Personal – She works in 
the sports industry.

110. NOTIFICATION OF ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS 

There were no additional urgent items.

111. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 1 OCTOBER 2018 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 October 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.

RESOLVED the chair called over items all items on the agenda.

112. REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 
2005 

Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director Environment and Place presented a report on the 
Review of Gambling Statement of Principles, under the Gambling Act 2005. The 
purpose of the report was to inform councillors of the results of the recent statutory 
review of the Council’s amended Gambling Act Statement of Principles and seek their 
approval for Cabinet to recommend that Full Council approves the updated statement 
of principles for publication by 3 January 2019 and reaffirms the existing “No Casino” 
resolution for the borough.

The statement of principles must be adopted by the Licensing Authority and kept 
under review. The policy must be fully reviewed and consulted upon at least every 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2018

CAB. 2

three years. The next date for a full review to have been completed and published is 3 

January 2019.

It was said that in the statutory consultation on this, there was not much feedback 
however some was received that helped strengthen the review, with the amendments 
that were suggested adopted in to the report.

The Assistant Director, Environment and Place noted that the reaffirming of the “No 
Casino” resolution does not have to happen. He also stated that no appeals had ever 
been received.

Councillor Fitzgerald proposed the recommendations, which was seconded by 
Councillor Batsford.

The chair decided to take the recommendations in two separate votes, one for each 
recommendation as requested by Councillor Lee.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

1. To agree the updated Gambling Act Statement of Principles at 
appendix B and recommend that Full Council approve it for 
publication by 3 January 2019 in order that it can take effect on 31 
January 2019

      RESOLVED (by 6 for, 2 against) that:

2. To recommend that Full Council should reaffirm the current “No 
Casino” resolution.

The reason for these recommendations were:

There is a statutory requirement for local authorities to fully review their Gambling Act 
Statement of Principles at least every 3 years. Failure to do so could result in judicial 
review proceedings against the authority, and call in to doubt local decisions made 
under the Gambling Act 2005.

The Act gives powers to licensing authorities to introduce a “No Casino” resolution for 
their areas. It is a Full Council decision and must be revisited and endorsed every 
three years.

The revised statement needs to be adopted by Full Council prior to publication on 3 
January 2019.

113. MUSEUM COMMITTEE CHANGES 

Polly Gifford, Cultural Strategic Development Specialist presented a report on 
changes to the Museum Committee. The purpose of the report was to outline the 

Page 2



CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2018

CAB. 3

changes to the format of the Museum Committee, which would promote greater 
efficiency and effectiveness.

The Museum Committee consists of elected Councillors and representatives of the 
Museum Association. It is an advisory committee only, with no decision making 
powers. Most responsibilities and executive functions are delegated to the Museum & 
Cultural Development Manager, with the remaining authority sitting with Cabinet. The 
role of the Museum Committee has become somewhat unclear in recent years. The 
proposed changes are intended to clarify the situation, reduce the burden on the 
Museum & Cultural Development Manager and make membership of the Committee a 
more engaging experience.

One of the proposed changes was to change from four to two meetings per year to be 
held in the Council Chamber. The minutes of these meetings will be reported to 
Cabinet as normal.

This will be an opportunity to see recent acquisitions, updated displays, meet staff and 
hear about their projects. It would be possible for example, to invite the museums 
Young Curators to speak. It will also be an opportunity for Committee members to 
share their specialist knowledge about areas of the museum and its collection.

No recommendations will be made at these meetings but any discussions will be 
noted and reported to the next formal meeting. Meetings will alternate between the 
Council Chamber and Museum.

Councillor Forward proposed the recommendation, which was seconded by Councillor 
Rogers.

RESOLVED (by 6 for, 2 against) that:

1. Cabinet support the proposed changes as detailed in the report.

The reason for this recommendation was:

To help re-focus the Committee so that it can better support and advise the Museum 
as it continues to develop its programme and capital ambitions.

114. TO APPOINT A MEMBER TO WAG 

Christine Barkshire-Jones, the Chief Legal Officer requested that Councillor Mike 
Turner be appointed to the Working Arrangements Group.

The recommendation was moved by Councillor Chowney, and seconded by Councillor 
Lee.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

Page 3



CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2018

CAB. 4

1. That Councillor Mike Turner be appointed to the Working 
Arrangements Group

The reason for this recommendation was:

Every committee must have the correct amount of appointed Councillors.

115. URGENCY - POTENTIAL DEVELOPMENT OF FOOTBALL STADIUM AND 
SPORTS FACILITIES AT TILEKILN 

Simon Hubbard, Director of Operational Services presented a report on a Potential 
Development of a Football Stadium and Sports Facilities at Tilekiln. The purpose of 
the report was to propose agreement in principle for the sale of land at Pilot Field 
(currently occupied by Hastings United Football Club), Hastings United Football Club 
Sports & Social Club and a long lease for the Tilekiln Recreation Ground. The purpose 
of this is to provide a new stadium, gym facilities, sports pitches and housing. It is 
likely the land at Pilot Field and the Social Club site will need to be sold at below best 
value.

In December 2017, the Cabinet and Council agreed that authority be given to officers 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council to sell the freehold of Hastings United 
Football Ground, Hastings United Sports and Social Club, a 999 lease at Bulverhythe 
and the freehold of the lower tier at Bexhill Road Recreation Ground. The purpose of 
this was to enable developers to bring forward planning proposals for a new stadium 
for Hastings United Football Club (HUFC), new sports pitches and facilities, and 
housing development. It was agreed that the site could be sold at below best value 
because of the social health and other benefits of the scheme.

This scheme was proposed by HUFC, The Horntye Trust, Bohemia LLP (a company 
set up to deliver the scheme) and was founded upon the delivery of the scheme by 
Keepmoat Ltd, a major housing and regeneration company.

Keepmoat withdrew from the scheme, citing the ending of another scheme in the 
South East making it difficult for a midlands/northern based firm to efficiently deliver in 
Hastings. It is likely that dealing with a Rother planning application in addition to those 
in Hastings posed an additional risk as did the potential flooding issues.

HUFC have now come forward with a smaller scheme which envisages the 
construction of a 1950 capacity stadium at Tilekiln Recreation Ground in Hollington. 
The design would allow space for expansion if the Club were to move up the Leagues 
where larger capacity would be required. Three football pitches are envisaged:

1) A grass pitch within the stadium which would be for club use.
2) A 3G pitch
3) A grass pitch

Page 4



CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2018

CAB. 5

A 3G pitch can accommodate many more matches (which are often limited to 2 a 
week on grass) and taken with floodlighting represents a potential increase in the level 
of football that can be played.

It is believed that an improved stadium is likely to enable the club to improve its 
competitive status and (subject to seeing a revised business plan) provide the local 
club with financial stability.

The Council will expect HUFC to involve the FA and other relevant key stakeholders in 
the development of the football development plans to ensure that the facilities are 
genuinely accessible to local teams and community (including affordable pricing and a 
balanced community programme, as well as the inclusion of groups such as the 
disabled, youth and women). This would be a condition of the completion of the sale of 
Pilot Field.

Councillor Chowney proposed the recommendations, which was seconded by 
Councillor Fitzgerald.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

1. To authorise the Director of Operational Services (or his nominee) to 
work with the Assistant Director Financial Services & Revenues, Estates 
Manager and Chief Legal Officer to seek suitable terms for the disposal of 
the land listed in this report in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council.

2. That any disposal be subject to:

• Agreement on land values.

• The safeguarding of the council’s position by the use of an options 
agreement, bond or other mechanism to ensure the delivery of agreed 
sports facilities.

• The agreement of an open book policy and the use of any funds 
generated
by house development over the costs of developing and delivering the 
new sports facilities.

• Agreement of a programme of community development and access to 
the new facilities which details plans for the development of activity for 
young people of education age, female football and disability football.
• Support of the Football Association and Sport England.
• Informal use of the football facilities as well as organised competition 
and activity.

• Consideration of comments made from consultation with sporting 
bodies, local football clubs, councillors for Hollington Ward and the local 
community.

Page 5



CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2018

CAB. 6

3. That a further report recommending the details of such a disposal be 
brought to Cabinet and Council as quickly as possible

The reason for these recommendations was:

The proposal has health and leisure benefits, should secure the future of Hastings
United Football Club (HUFC) and provide additional housing required to help achieve 
our Local Plan targets. The Council should approach this on the basis of creating a 
new partnership with HUFC which will yield substantial benefits in terms of enhanced 
participation in football and other activities.

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at 6.55pm)

Page 6



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 3rd December 2018

Report Title: Members’ allowance index review

Report By: Jane Hartnell
                    Director of Corporate Services and Governance

Purpose of Report

To present the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) to Council for 
consideration.

Recommendation(s)

1. To agree the recommendations made by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel

Reasons for Recommendations

To review the index applied to calculate Members’ allowances in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

Background

1. The Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) last sat in 2014 to consider 
Members' allowances.  

2. Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 
Reg 10(5), the local authority must not rely on the annual index that it uses for 
longer than a period of four years before seeking a further recommendation from 
the Independent Remuneration Panel established in respect of that authority on the 
application of an index to its scheme.  

3. The IRP was reconvened in early October 2018 to test the index for uplifting the 
allowances paid to Members.  

4. The IRP interviewed 15 Councillors and 2 Officers. They also received written 
submissions and also the results from an anonymous online survey of which 23 
Councillors completed.

5. The IRP have conducted a comparative analysis with other local authorities.

Report overview

6. The report outlines the membership, terms of reference and the principles adopted 
by the Panel.

7. The report outlines the findings from its comparative analysis of other local 
authorities.

8. It  uses the qualitative data from interviews, written submissions and the online 
survey results as part of the review process.

9. The final IRP report was  submitted on 23rd November 2018.Recommendations

10. The IRP  made the following recommendations::

(1) The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Council set the overall sum payable under 
the Member Allowance Scheme each year in conjunction with setting the Annual 
Budget and at that stage determine the overall affordability of the Members 
Allowance Scheme.  It would therefore be possible for Members to maintain the 
basic recommended level of Allowances set out in this report , increase them in 
line with the specific secondary recommendations in this report and if adverse 
circumstances arise reduce  the level of allowances,  depending on the general  
level of resources available to the Council each year , subject to the overall 
scheme recommended by the Panel in this report being adhered to.

(2) The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Basic Allowance for 2019/2020 should not 
be increased and should be the level paid in 2018/2019 - £6030, subject if 
appropriate, to any annual adjustment determined by the annual uplifting formula 
applied to all allowances

Page 8



Report Template v29.0

(3) The Panel RECOMMENDS therefore that from 2020/2021,and each year 
thereafter  for  the currency of the Panel`s  recommendations up to 2022/2023  
the Council consider whether its financial circumstances have changed 
sufficiently for it determine whether the level of the Basic Allowance can be 
increased by up to £1000. Any increase should only ne awarded in line with the 
general principle of affordability adopted for determining all Member Allowances.

(4)  The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Leaders Allowance for 2019/2020 should 
not be increased  and should be the level paid in 2018/2019 - ££12,059.46, 
subject if appropriate, to the annual adjustment determined by the annual 
uplifting formula applied to all allowances.

(5) The Panel RECOMMENDS therefore that from 2020/2021,and each year 
thereafter , for the currency of the Panel`s recommendations up to 2022/2023  
the Council consider whether its financial circumstances have changed 
sufficiently for it determine whether the level of the Leaders Allowance can be 
increased by either option 1 i.e. £6030 or option 2 i.e. £9045 plus if applicable  
the annual  uplifting adjustment  Any increase should only be awarded in line 
with the general principle of affordability adopted for determining all Member 
Allowances

(6) The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Special Responsibility Allowances for 
2019/2020 be as follows:

Post Special 
Responsibility 
Allowance

Any Uplift Included

Leader of the Council
(With or without 
Portfolio)

£12,059.46 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Deputy Leader with 
Portfolio

£7,842.78 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Cabinet Members 
with Portfolio 
(Majority Group) and 
Chair of Charity 
Committee

£6,511.68 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Opposition Group 
Members and any 
others without 
Portfolios Serving on 
Cabinet 

£3,252.78 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Designated 
Opposition Group 
Members performing 
Shadow portfolio 
roles (not serving on 
the Cabinet) when a 
single party Cabinet 
structure is in place

£1,627.00 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 

£3,017.16 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Page 9



Report Template v29.0

Vice-Chair of 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

£590.58 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Chair of Planning £3,619.98 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Vice Chair of 
Planning

£1,324.98 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Chair of Licensing £982.26 Plus uplift for 2019/2020
Chair of Environment 
and Safety 

£575.28 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Chair of Audit 
Committee

£3,017.16 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Ordinary Members of 
Planning Committee

£982.26 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Ordinary Members of 
Licensing Committee

£104.04 per Sub 
Committee 
membership

Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Ordinary Members of 
Environment and 
Safety Committee

£287.64 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Majority Group 
Leader per Member 
(plus Standard 
Element)

£180.54 per 
member plus 
£1,291.32 (23 
members)

Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Majority Group 
Deputy Leader per 
Member 

£180.54 per 
member (23 
members) 

Plus uplift for 2019/2020

All Opposition Group 
Leaders per Member 
(plus Standard 
Element)

£180.54 per 
member plus 
£1,291.32 (7 
members)

Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Deputy Leader Main 
Opposition Group per 
member

£180.54 per 
member (7 
members)

Plus uplift for 2019/2020

            7)      The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Special Responsibility Allowances be:

Post Special 
responsibility 
Allowance

Any uplift included

Independent Members of 
the Standards 

Committee

£602.82 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

Independent Members of 
the Museums Committee

£70.38 Plus uplift for 2019/2020

8) The Panel RECOMMENDS that any annual adjustment of the Allowances 
should be the same as the annual adjustment to officers’ salaries as 
determined by the NJC Scheme.

Page 10



Report Template v29.0

9) The Panel RECOMMENDS that the HM Revenue & Customs specified 
mileage rates, currently 45p per mile regardless of the cc be paid and 24p 
per mile for motorcycles regardless of the cc be paid, with no tax 
implications until there are any revisions to the above rates and at the time 
that any revisions are made by HM Revenue & Customs to these rates, 
then the revised rates be implemented.

10)  The Panel RECOMMENDS that the subsistence allowances should be 
paid up to the maximum rates, as set out for Officers and these be revised in 
accordance to any changes in these rates.

11)  The Panel RECOMMENDS that all travelling within the Borough be 
covered by the Basic Allowance but that  Members  should continue to be 
provided with a car park pass or public transport pass for use on official 
business within the Borough.

12) The Panel RECOMMENDS that no specific travelling and subsistence 
allowances should be  paid for attending civic ceremonies and that any such 
costs should be met from within  the Basic Allowance.

13) The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Dependents` carers` Allowance and 
Childcare Allowance should be based on the actual costs incurred while 
undertaking an approved duty up to the Living Wage hourly rate, including up to 
1 hour in total travelling to and from the place at which the approved duty takes 
place, subject to an upper limit of £600 per Member per year.

14) The Panel RECOMMENDS that elected Members be informed annually 
through a summary of the Scheme being made available to all elected 
Members and that all new Members of the Council are appraised of the 
Scheme. The Council should determine the practicalities of how this is best 
done but no Member should miss out on any payable allowance through 
not being aware. 

15) The Panel RECOMMENDS that Hastings Borough Council raise the issue 
of the fitness for purpose of the current scheme of Members ` Allowances 
with the Local Government Association with a view of it providing a further 
independent element to determining the appropriate level of Allowances 
paid to elected Members.

Timetable of Next Steps

11. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these:

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional)

Responsible

IRP submit final 
report

Completion of 
Panels work

23rd November 
2018

Coral Harding

Page 11



Report Template v29.0

Wards Affected

None

Implications

Relevant project tools applied? Yes/No

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness          No
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) No
Risk Management No
Environmental Issues No
Economic/Financial Implications No
Human Rights Act No
Organisational Consequences No
Local People’s Views No
Anti-Poverty No

Additional Information

Insert a list of appendices and/or additional documents.  Report writers are encouraged 
to use links to existing information, rather than appending large documents. 

Officer to Contact

Officer Name: Coral Harding 
Officer Email Address: charding@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number: 01424 451764 

Page 12



HASTINGS BOROUGH COUNCIL      
                                                                              

Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel on the review of Members’ Allowances for  
                                       Hastings Borough Council - November 2018                                                                                       

Introduction

1.1 This report has been prepared by the Independent Remuneration Panel, established by the 
Council in September 2018  in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities 
(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
and Discretionary Compensation ( Local Authority Members in England) Regulations 2003  
and the Statutory Guidance on Members Allowances 2006.

 
1.2 These regulations, which arise out of the relevant provisions contained in the Local         

Government Act 2000, require all local authorities to establish and maintain an advisory 
Independent Members Remuneration Panel to review and provide advice on Members 
Allowances on a periodic basis. All Councils are required to convene their Panel and seek its 
advice before they make any changes or amendments to their Members Allowance Scheme. 
They must “pay regard” to the Panel`s recommendations before setting up a new or amended 
scheme.

1.3 The report sets out the Panel’s findings following the review of the Council’s current scheme 
established following a review of Member Allowances by an Independent Remuneration Panel 
in December 2010 and updated in November, 2014.  The report sets out recommendations in 
respect of:

 The level of Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances
 Independent Co-optee Member Allowances
 Travelling and Subsistence  
 Dependents `carers` Allowance and Childcare Allowance

2.  The Independent Remuneration Panel

2.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel has the following membership:

Grahame Handley – retired Local Government Chief Executive (Chairman)
John Marsh – Accountant and former Local Authority Director

            Clive Mills – retired Senior Health Service Manager     

2.2   The regulations require a minimum of 3 Members to constitute an Independent Remuneration            
         Panel.

3.  Terms of Reference                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                       
3.1   The detailed brief for the Panel is attached as Annex 1.

Page 13



3.2   The principal matters on which the Panel are to make recommendations are:

 The amount of Basic Allowance to be paid to all Members of the Council.
 Those Member posts involving significant additional responsibilities for which Special 

Responsibility Allowance (SRA) payments are to be made and the levels of those 
allowances.

 The amount to be paid in respect of Dependents ‘carers` Allowance and Childcare 
Allowance.

 The levels, and appropriateness, of travelling and subsistence allowances.
 The amount of the Co-optees Allowance to be paid to the independent persons serving

on the Council’s Standards Committee and Museum’s Committee.

4.  The Panel’s Work

4.1   The Panel has considered a range of background information which has included:

 The Council’s current Members’ Allowance Scheme.

 An online survey of elected Members of which 23 Members (72%) submitted a response.

 Interviews in person or by telephone with 14 Elected Members.  The Elected Members 
interviewed included the Leader of the Council, Leader of the Opposition, Members with

      a range of Specific Responsibilities Allowances (SRAs) and Members with no SRAs.  

 Written responses by 2 Elected Members.

 Interviews with the Continuous Improvement and Democratic Services Manager and the 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer.

 Information on Members` Allowances schemes in operation in the South East provided by 
Local Authorities in the South East and coordinated by the South East Employers 
Organisation. 

5.  The Principles adopted by the Panel

5.1 In the 2004 Report the then Panel adopted the overall objective that the Scheme of 
Allowances should be  “simple, fair and easy to administer”.

5.2 The Panels established in 2010 and 2014 agreed that this overall objective was still 
        appropriate and amplified that objective by adopting a number of key principles and 
        that these should be:        

 The allowances should take account, as far as possible, of the time commitment given by 
Members in fulfilling their roles and responsibilities.

Page 14



 The scheme should ensure, as far as practical, that as wide a range of people as possible 
should be able to stand for election and that they should not be financially penalised in 
doing so.  

 An element of Members’ time in terms of their work as a Councillor should be treated as 
voluntary, which should not be remunerated.

 The levels of the allowances should not be treated as salary but are an “allowance”.
 The assumption that all Members will participate as fully as possible in Council business 

and play an active part in their wards and that the importance of these two roles should be 
reflected in the level of the Basic Allowance.

 The Special Responsibility Allowance payments should be banded to reflect both the time 
commitment and the workload of the identified special responsibilities.

 Members should be recompensed for specific costs and expenses incurred in carrying out 
their duties.

 The scheme should recognise the complex and often balanced political control of the 
Council, which has been subject to relatively frequent change given the two-yearly 
electoral cycle adopted by the Council.

 The scheme should anticipate a number of possible structures which might be adopted by 
the Council and which would avoid the necessity for comprehensive reviews on a very 
regular basis.

 The reviewed scheme should take account of payments included in the current scheme
and any changes which might be recommended should be balanced with the interests of 
Council Tax payers in the Borough.

5.3 The current Panel endorses the overall objective and the key principles set out above.

5.4   The background to the current review is one of extreme financial difficulty for all Local 
Authorities, including Hastings Borough Council.   Based on what is known at present, virtually all 
Local Authorities will be facing possible cuts during the next financial year (2019-2020) and there 
is likely to be a sustained period of financial constraint for the foreseeable future. However, there 
may be some relaxation in the overall approach to the public sector and Local Government 
specifically which could result in additional resources. There have been recent statements by 
Central Government which could change the current financial situation both in general and 
specifically such as the rules and regulations relating to Local Authority investment in housing. 
This difficult but potentially changing future has been taken into account by the Panel.

5.5   For these reasons the Panel has concluded that it is again right to set the appropriate level of 
Allowances payable for 2019/20.  However, the level of Allowances payable should reflect the 
scale of the resources available to the Council.  To ensure that the Council can assess whether it 
can afford the appropriate level of allowances, the Panel believe that this decision needs to be 
made annually, and specifically linked to setting the Budget for the Council.

5.6   In such circumstances, the Council could, at its Annual Budget meeting, resolve to reduce all 
the Allowances by whatever percentage it feels appropriate to achieve budget savings or increase 
Allowances if additional resources become available 

Page 15



5.7 As the Allowances have been determined to be the appropriate level under current financial 
circumstances, the Council could in due course, maintain allowances in line with the Panel`s basic 
recommendations , increase allowances in line with the secondary recommendations in this report 
or if it is necessary to make reductions in any future year but then restore the budget for Members 
Allowances up to the overall sum and the individual payments as recommended by the Panel 
should financial circumstances change permitting allowances to be restored to the appropriate level 
recommended in this report by the Panel.

5.8. The Council should consider these recommendations, taking into account the Panel`s advice of 
not exceeding the recommended levels set out in this report and allowing for the annual uplift dealt 
with later in the report determine at each annual review linked to setting  to the Budget determine 
the appropriate level of Allowances  without further  reference to the Panel. 

5.9   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Council set the overall sum payable under the Member 
Allowance Scheme each year in conjunction with setting the Annual Budget and at that stage 
determine the overall affordability of the Members Allowance Scheme.  It would therefore be 
possible for Members to maintain the basic recommended level of Allowances set out in this 
report, increase them in line with the specific secondary recommendations in this report and if 
adverse circumstances arise reduce  the level of allowances,  depending on the general  level of 
resources available to the Council each year , subject to the overall scheme recommended by the 
Panel in this report being adhered to.

6.  The Basic Allowance

6.1   Every Local Authority must make provision in its Members’ Allowance Scheme for a Basic 
Allowance payable to every Member of the Authority.  The Basic Allowance is intended to reflect 
the time commitment of Councillors in carrying out their duties and attendance at meetings of 
political groups.  It is also intended to cover incidental costs, for example, telephone calls but not 
travelling and subsistence.

6.2   The Panel wishes to highlight one of its principles which will be particularly important in the 
difficult times facing Local Government.  That is the assumption that all Members of the Council 
will participate as fully as possible in Council business and play an active part in their wards and 
the importance of these two roles is reflected in determining the appropriate level of the Basic 
Allowance.

6.3   The current Basic Allowance for 2018/19 is £6030.

6.4   The Panel has, in determining its view on the appropriate level of Basic Allowance, taken
into account a number of factors which indicate that the pressures on individual Members have
increased substantially  and these pressure are likely to continue to do so in future years. 

6.5 There are a number of factors driving this increase in the pressures on individual Members and 
these include

Page 16



 The consequence of cutback to services provided by Hastings B.C. are that many 
residents refer to elected Members more, especially given the levels of deprivation in a 
number of wards in the Borough.

 Changes to the national Benefits system have and continue to produce problems for 
residents and many use the more readily availability of local elected Members as the 
first point of contact, regardless of whether the service is provided by Hastings B.C..

 The reductions in staffing made by Hastings B.C. have again resulted in greater contact 
with elected Members who seem to be increasingly used whereas in the past officers 
would have been the point of contact.

 The increased use of e mails and other social media and the relative ease in contacting 
elected Members has also resulted in greater contact. The very natureof these forms of 
contact also generate an expectation of an immediate or fairly quick response. Elected 
Members frequently stated that they take several hours each day responding to such 
requests.   

 Reductions in services provided by other public sector bodies have resulted in more 
contact by residents over matters outside the remit of the Borough Council but because 
of the local elected Members being more contactable these issues are being raised with 
the expectation that the local Member can intervene and resolve such issues. In such a 
situation many people, directly or indirectly, are resorting to their locally elected 
Borough Councillors for help and support.

6.6   The Panel has concluded that the pressures on Members in terms of the time commitment 
required to fulfil their roles and the range of responsibilities on them has increased even more than 
when the current level of the Basic Allowance was fixed following the Report in 2014.  The 
current Panel also recognised that Hastings Borough Council has a relatively small number of 
Members but nevertheless the responsibilities of the Council are the same as any other Council, 
many with more Members to share the burden.  The Panel also recognise that the pressures on 
Members are likely to increase in the foreseeable future, coping with balancing ever increasing 
demands for services with constrained and reduced resources.

6.7   From our assessment it would appear that the current level of Basic Allowance compares 
favourably with other local authorities similar to Hastings Borough Council in the South East.  

6.8   We did therefore consider whether  the representations for a higher Basic Allowance were 
justified or appropriate in the current financial circumstances and the Panel concluded there were 
significant and increased pressures on elected Members but that for 2019/2020 the Panel would 
recommend that the Basic Allowance should remain at £6030 (the 2018/2019 level ) but that the 
annual uplift linked to the national rise or not to officer salaries be applied to form the appropriate  
level for the Basic Allowance for 2019/2020 and the next three years.

6.9   The Panel RECOMMENDS  that the Basic Allowance for 2019/2020 should not be increased 
and should  be the level paid in 2018/2019 - £6030, subject if appropriate, to any annual 
adjustment determined by the annual uplifting formula applied to all allowances.

Page 17



6.10 The Panel also concluded that there have been significant increases on the commitment 
required from elected Members in light of the factors set out above in paragraph 6.5 and that this 
should also feature in our recommendations. The Panel felt that it would be appropriate in different 
financial circumstances to have recommended that the level of Basic Allowance be increased by 
£1000 but could not recommend that at this stage. The Council could however address this should 
the financial circumstances of the Council change at some stage in the future. In such 
circumstances it would then be appropriate for the Council to consider increasing the level of the 
Basic Allowance by up to £1000. This would be in accordance with the general principle set out in 
paragraphs 5.4-5.8 above that the expenditure on elected Member Allowances must be affordable 
and reflect the budget situation facing the Council at any time.

6.11   The Panel RECOMMENDS therefore that from 2020/2021,and each year thereafter , for the 
currency of the Panel`s recommendations up to 2022/2023  the Council consider whether its 
financial circumstances have changed sufficiently for it determine whether the level of the Basic 
Allowance can be increased by £1000. Any increase should only be awarded in line with the 
general principle of affordability adopted for determining all Member Allowances.

7.  Special Responsibility Allowances

7.1   Special Responsibility Allowances are paid to Elected Members over and above the Basic 
Allowance for carrying out specific duties which impose additional responsibilities and time 
commitment on an individual Member for a designated duty determined by the political structure 
of the Council.

7.2   The Panel has reassessed the special consideration given to issues taken into account
by the previous Panel, including the Council’s political situation, the special position of Hastings 
in terms of deprivation and regeneration, the role of Overview and Scrutiny and the now well 
established functions relating to licensing

7.3 The Panel recognised in particular the specific political situation that has pertained in 
Hastings.  At present, the Labour Group has a working majority but in particular, with the two-
yearly election process and a history of political movement in Hastings, such a situation can 
change.  The current political structure reflects this situation with Opposition Members serving  on 
the Cabinet but there have been times when a single party Cabinet has been in place and 
designated Opposition Group Shadow Portfolio Holders have been invited to speak on issues
at Cabinet and received an SRA.  This is unusual and it shows Hastings particular context.  At 
present, Opposition Members serving on the Cabinet do not have any portfolio responsibilities but 
there could be a context where this situation could change.

7.4   The Panel wishes to give Elected Members some certainty with respect to Special 
Responsibility Allowances for Cabinet Members and Opposition Members.  The Panel have 
previously therefore, made proposals for the following circumstances:

Page 18



 Majority Group Members of the Cabinet with portfolio responsibilities.
 Opposition Group Members without portfolio responsibilities but serving on the Cabinet.

            (This reflects the current position)
 Designated Opposition Group Shadow Portfolio Holders not serving on the Cabinet when a 

single party Cabinet structure is in place.

7.5   The number of Special Responsibility Allowances is determined by the political structure of 
the Council and the legislative framework for Local Government. The Panel is satisfied however, 
that the level and mix of SRA s, remain appropriate for Hastings B.C. and its special 
circumstances. 

7.6    The Panel received widespread comments from Members of both Groups, Members in 
receipt of SRA s and Members in receipt of only the Basic Allowance that the total allowance for 
the Leader of the Council was no longer appropriate.  Elected Members sited the following 
justifications;

 That the Council was now operating without a Chief Executive and that part of the 
strategic management function was now being carried out by the Leader of the Council.

 That the management of the Council was now much more complex with reduced resources 
but no reduction in expectation for service delivery and performance.

 That the Leader was expected to play an enhanced role in relation to partnership working 
with the County Council, the Police, and other public sector bodies including Health.

 That with e mails and other social media the expectation is that Leader is expected to 
provide 24/7 availability.

 
7.7   The Panel therefore considered specifically the payment of SRA s for the Leader of the 
Council. The Panel takes the view that political direction, management and administration are core 
activities for the effective political control and management of the Council and should be reflected 
in the overall allowance allowed for that position. The Panel concluded that the amount currently 
determined by the various allowances, totalling £23,533.20 for 2018/2019 was no longer 
appropriate and that the SRA for the Leader of the Council should be increased by the equivalent 
of the Basic Allowance, i e £ 6030 or the equivalent of the Basic Allowance plus one half of the 
Basic Allowance, i.e. £6030 plus £3015 totalling £9045. The effect of these possible options would 
be to increase the overall allowance for the Leader under the current allocation of responsibilities 
to £29,563.20 or £32,578.20. 
 
7.8   The Panel did therefore consider whether either of the enhanced allowances was appropriate 
in the current financial circumstances and the Panel concluded although  there was significant and 
increased pressure on the Leader of the Council but  for 2019/2020 the Panel would not 
recommend either of the options, although justified in the Panel`s opinion should be recommended 
for 2019/2020 and thereby setting the starting point for the Leader`s Allowance for the period of 
this review commencing 2019/2020 and the next three years.

7.9   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Leader`s Allowance for 2019/2020 should not be

Page 19



increased and should be the level paid in 2018/2019 - ££12,059.46, subject if appropriate, to the 
annual adjustment determined by the annual uplifting formula applied to all allowances.

7.10   The Panel felt that it would be appropriate in different financial circumstances to have 
recommended that either of the options suggested be considered by the Council.  The Council 
could however address this should the financial circumstances of the Council change at some stage 
in the future. In such circumstances it would then be appropriate for the Council to consider 
increasing the level of the Leaders Allowance by either option 1 by £6030 to £ 18,089.46 or option 
2 by £9045 to £21,104.46 plus the annual adjustment determined by the annual uplifting formula 
applied to all allowances. This would be in accordance with the general principle set out in 
paragraph xxx above that the expenditure on elected Member Allowances must be affordable and 
reflect the budget situation facing the Council at any time.

7.11  The Panel RECOMMENDS therefore that from 2020/2021,and each year thereafter , for the 
currency of the Panel`s recommendations up to 2022/2023  the Council consider whether its 
financial circumstances have changed sufficiently for it determine whether the level of the Leaders 
Allowance can be increased by either option 1 i.e. £6030 or option 2 i.e. £9045 plus, if applicable,  
the annual  uplifting adjustment  Any increase should only be awarded in line with the general 
principle of affordability adopted for determining all Member Allowances.

7.12   The Panel also received representations that the Deputy Leader`s work load has increased 
substantially and that the Deputy Leader`s Allowance no longer reflected the level of responsibility 
carried, the time commitment made and the overall pressure on the position. The Panel are not 
minded at this stage to recommend any increase in the Deputy Leader`s Allowance but would 
suggest that should the Panel be reconvened at any time in the next four years should 
circumstances justify it then this issue be specifically referred to the Panel as one of the issues it 
should address.  

7.13   The Panel re considered the SRA payment to Members of the Planning Committee.  This is 
not the norm for Local Authorities but it is not unique to Hastings Borough Council.  Given the 
importance of regeneration to Hastings and the need for properly trained Members serving on the 
Planning Committee, the Panel views the payment of an SRA to Members of the Planning 
Committee continues to be appropriate.

7.14   In relation to Independent Members of the Standards Committee and the Museums 
Committee, the Panel takes the view that SRAs are important and should be continued to be paid.

7.15 The Panel is aware that at present there are only two political groups on the Council. 
Should that situation change and any new political group, which must have 2 or more Members on 
the Council, then there is provision in the SRA structure for a political management payment to be 
made.

7.16   In overall terms, the Panel does not recommend that the level of SRAs should be increased 
above the level currently pertaining. The Panel believes that the level of payments are appropriate 

Page 20



compared to other Local Authorities in the South East and no case has been made for them to be 
increased, in particular in the context of the financial situation facing the Borough Council.

7.17   The Panel believes that the Special Responsibility Allowances should therefore remain the 
same as in 2018/2019, plus the annual uplift and that this uplifted figure should be the level of 
payment for future years subject to any annual adjustment. 

7.18   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Special Responsibility Allowances be as follows:

    £
Leader of the Council 12,059.46   +    plus uplift for 2019/20
(with or without portfolio)

Deputy Leader with portfolio   7,842.78    +                  “ 

            Cabinet Members with portfolio   6,511.68    +                  “

Opposition Group Members serving on Cabinet   3,252.78    +                   “    

(Designated Opposition Group Members performing
Shadow portfolio roles (not serving on the Cabinet) 
when a single party Cabinet structure is in place.        1,627          +                   “
(This is in accord with the principle accepted
by the then IRP in July 2009)   

             
 

Chair of Overview & Scrutiny   3017.16          +                   “
  
            Vice Chair of Overview & Scrutiny                               590.58          +                   “                         

     
Chair of Planning   3,619.98           +                  “ 

Vice Chair of Planning               1,324.98           +                  “

Chair of Licensing      982.26           +                  “

Chair of Environment & Safety      575.28           +                  “ 

Chair of Audit Committee   3,017.16           +                  “

Ordinary Members of Planning Committee                  982.26           +                  “

Ordinary Members of Licensing Committee      104.04  per sub-committee 
                                                                                     membership      +                  “

Page 21



Ordinary Members of Environment & Safety
Committee       287.64           +                     “

Majority Group Leader per Member       180.54 per Member
(plus Standard Element) + 1,291.32           +                     “

Majority Group Deputy Leader       180.54 per Member      +     “            

All Opposition Group Leaders per Member       180.54  per Member     
(plus Standard Element) + 1,291.32                         +       “

Deputy Leader Main Opposition Group per Member      180.54 per Member     +       “

           
8.  Independent Co-optees Member Allowances

8.1   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Special Responsibility
       Allowances be:

Independent Members of the Standards Committee       602.82                              +             
“

Independent Members of the Museums Committee         70.38                              +             
“

9.  Annual Review

9.1   It is necessary that the Panel picks a mechanism for determining the annual adjustment.
The Panel believes that the most appropriate mechanism for the period up to 2022/23 should be the 
annual adjustment to the officers` salary as determined by the National Joint Council (NJC).

9.2   The Panel RECOMMENDS that any annual adjustment of the Allowances should be the
 annual adjustment to officers’ salaries as determined by the NJC Scheme.

9.3   The overall issue of affordability is a separate matter and this has been dealt with in
Section  5.

10.  Travelling and Subsistence Allowances

10.1   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the HM Revenue & Customs specified mileage rates, 
currently 45p per mile regardless of the cc be paid and 24p per mile for motorcycles regardless of 
the cc be paid, with no tax implications until there are any revisions to the above rates and at the 
time that any revisions are made by HM Revenue & Customs to these rates, then the revised rates 
be implemented.

Page 22



10.2   Parking charges and other fixed travelling expenses e.g. tolls be paid at cost and subject
to receipts.

10.3   The HM Revenue & Customs specified rate of 20p per mile continue to be paid for bicycle 
and other “non-motorised” forms of transport.

10.4   The travelling allowance payment for electric or similar specialised vehicles remain at 
£1.10p per journey regardless of the distance travelled, with no tax implications.

10.5   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the subsistence allowances should be paid up to the 
maximum rates, as set out for Officers and these are revised in accordance to any
changes in these rates.

The recommended rates for 2018-19 are:

Breakfast allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal
place of residence before 11.00am) up to £6.88  

Lunch allowance (more than 4 hours from normal place of
residence including the lunchtime between 12 noon and 
2.00 pm) up to £9.50
 
Tea allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place
of residence including the period 3.00pm to 6.00pm) up to £3.76

Evening meal allowance (more than 4 hours away from the
normal place of residence, ending after 7.00pm) up to           £11.76

Overnight subsistence           £93.08

   £106.16                                      
(Absence overnight in London or at 
the Annual Conference of the LGA)

10.6   The Panel was asked to consider specifically the payment of travel costs in the Borough
and as to whether these should be at Inland Revenue rates or met from within the Basic Allowance.

10.7   The Panel considered the payment of travel costs within the Borough should continue to be 
met from the Basic Allowance, given the geographical size of the Borough and the wish to avoid 
undue bureaucracy claiming small sums of money.  The Panel also recognised that Members of the 
Planning Committee are paid an SRA and believe that this should continue to cover site visits and 
other travelling within the Borough which are over and above the travelling expected by Members 
not on that Committee.

Page 23



10.8  The Panel RECOMMENDS that all travelling within the Borough be covered by the Basic 
Allowance but that Members should continue to be provided with a car park pass or public 
transport pass for use on official business within the Borough.

10.9   The Panel was previously asked to consider specifically whether attendance at Civic 
Ceremonies, such as Remembrance Day and other memorial and civic events should be covered 
for travelling expenses.  For similar reasons, the Panel continues to believe that attendance at these 
events should be covered by the Basic Allowance.

10.10  The Panel RECOMMENDS that no specific travelling and subsistence allowances should 
be paid for attending civic ceremonies and that any such costs should be met from within the Basic 
Allowance.

10.11 The Panel wish to record that for the good administration of local government Members’ 
attention should be drawn to the need to provide receipts for all claims under this section and that 
recommended sums are the maximum sums to be paid, subject to receipts.

11.  Dependents` carers` Allowance and Childcare Allowance

11.1 Dependents` carer’s Allowance and Childcare Allowance shall be payable in circumstances 
where a Member of the Council is obliged to engage and pay a carer for another dependent 
member of his household or a child because that member would be otherwise unable to attend an 
approved duty due to the need to ensure that care is provided for that dependent person or child.

11.2 The amount of Dependents` carers` Allowance and Childcare Allowance is currently based
on the Living Wage and the Panel sees no reason why this should be changed. The Dependents` 
carers` Allowance and Childcare Allowance should be paid at this rate per hour, including up to 1 
hour in total travelling to and from the place at which the approved duty takes place.   

11.3   The Dependents` carers` Allowance and Childcare Allowance shall not be paid where the 
carer is a member of the Councillor’s own household.

11.4   The Dependents` carers` Allowance and Childcare Allowance may be claimed for:
 A child or children under the age of 16
 An elderly relative requiring full time care
 A relative with physical disability requiring full time care
 A relative with learning disabilities requiring full time care

The Councillor must notify the Council of the identity of the carer in respect of whose costs the 
allowance is claimed and the dependant or child(ren) must be registered with the Council in 
advance of any claim being made.  Disabled dependents are excluded where the Member is 
already in receipt of a carers` allowance.

11.5   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Dependents` carers` Allowance and Childcare 
Allowance should be based on the actual costs incurred while undertaking an approved duty up to 

Page 24



the Living Wage hourly rate, including up to 1 hour in total travelling to and  from the place at 
which the approved duty takes place.

12 Renunciation

12.1   A Councillor or Independent Co-optee Member may, by giving notice in writing to the 
Scrutiny and Democratic Services Manager, elect to forgo all, or part, of his/her entitlement to 
allowance under this Scheme.

13   Part Year Entitlements

13.1 During the operation of this Scheme, where there is an amendment to the Scheme, or where 
there is a change in the person receiving the allowance, the Scheme shall be applied on a daily 
pro-rata basis with any overpayment paid back to the Council.

14   Withholding of Allowance

14.1 Where a Councillor, or independent co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended 
from his/her responsibilities or duties as a Member, that part of the allowance, or travelling or 
subsistence payable to him in respect of the period over which he/she is suspended, or partially 
suspended, shall be withheld subject to such sanction being so recommended by the Council’s 
Standards Committee.

15   Repayment of Allowances

15.1  Where a Councillor, or independent co-opted Member has already received payment of 
allowances, or travelling and subsistence payments in respect of any period during which they 
are:

 Suspended, or partially suspended from their responsibilities or duties
 Ceases to be a Member
 Or is in any way not entitled to receive such an allowance in respect of that period

It shall be a requirement that the part of the allowance for the period in question shall be repaid
to the Council.

16   Membership of another Authority

16.1 Where a Councillor is also a member of another public Authority from which allowances can 
be claimed, that Councillor must not claim, nor receive, any allowances from more than one 
Authority in respect of the same duties.

17   Publicity for the Members` Allowance Scheme 

Page 25



17.1  The Panel has become aware that not all elected Members are fully conversant with the 
Members Allowance Scheme and their entitlements under it. It is recognised that Hastings B.C. 
has been under considerable pressure over recent years and that officer resources have been 
reduced and consequently stretched. However, it is unfortunate that elected Members may be 
missing out on allowances that the Scheme covers and they could be entitled to. Elected Members 
should be given annually a summary of the Members` Allowance Scheme covering all allowances 
and particular care should be taken to inform any new Member joining the Council.

17.2  The Panel RECOMMENDS that elected Members be informed annually through a summary 
of the Scheme being made available to all elected Members and that all new Members of the 
Council are appraised of the Scheme. The Council should determine the practicalities of how this 
is best done but no Member should miss out on any payable allowance through not being aware. 
     

18   Hardship Fund

18.1 The Panel was requested to examine the establishment of a Hardship Fund to assist any 
elected Member facing financial difficulties which could result in the Member being unable to 
perform his/her duties or having to resign from the Council.

18.2 The Panel concludes that this is outside the remit of the Panel as its responsibilities are 
determined by the Local Authorities (Members` Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.

18.3 If Hastings B.C. wish to introduce such a scheme this, the Panel believes, would be possible 
using other legislation and should be pursued separately from a scheme relating to Members` 
Allowances. 

19. The Relevance of the Current Members Allowance Scheme

19.1  The Panel operates under a legislative framework established through  the provisions of the 
Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and Discretionary Compensation ( Local Authority Members in England) 
Regulations 2003  and the Statutory Guidance on Members Allowances 2006.

19.2 Clearly this framework correctly leaves the decisions on Members` Allowances to individual 
Local Authorities and that is right and proper. It is not appropriate for Central Government to 
involve itself in such matters other than setting the overall framework. The system through the use 
of an Independent Panel puts the setting of allowances somewhat apart from the Local Authority 
although elected Members have the final decision on whether the Panel`s recommendations are 
accepted. That also is right and proper as it would be totally wrong if an Independent Panel had the 
absolute responsibility for setting allowances. The position, if that were the situation, would be that 
an unelected body was responsible for setting part of the Local Authority` budget . The final 
decision as to whether the Panel`s recommendations are accepted or amended in the context of 
setting the annual Budget can only be made by elected Members. It is to Hasting B.C. credit and 

Page 26



integrity that it has always accepted the recommendations made by the Independent Panels in the 
past.

19.3 The operation of the system in a period of severe and long lasting financial constraint, 
however, is causing severe difficulties. Independent Panels are having to balance recommending 
the appropriate level of Allowances with the Local Authority`s capacity to fund the 
recommendations. That is particularly the case in Hastings as the Council has experienced 
substantial and long running financial pressures causing staff losses and service reductions set 
against substantial deprivation and enhanced demand for its services. The Council has to balance 
the fairness adopting an appropriate level of Members` Allowances, in the context where the 
pressures on individual Members are increasing and probably never more than at present with 
maintaining or most likely reducing services because of severe budget restrictions. In itself that is 
extremely difficult but Members fully understand that to adopt an increase in Allowances is likely 
to cause substantial public adverse comment.

19.4  The Panel therefore suggests that the current system of setting Members` Allowances , 
in the severe financial constraints facing all Local Authorities, is no longer fit for purpose. The 
Panel would not wish in any way for a greater involvement by Central Government but does 
believe that a further independent element could be beneficial. The great majority of Local 
Authorities are members of the Local Government Association and this body could provide that 
additional independent input to achieve fairness to elected Members and protect the interests of 
Council Tax payers. This could be possible through establishing a regional level database for 
Members` Allowances and other factors for example , population ,levels of deprivation, total 
budget spend  etc against which individual Local Authorities could assess their individual Panel`s 
recommendations and the appropriateness of  their schemes. 

               
19.5 The Panel RECOMMENDS that Hastings Borough Council raise the issue of the fitness for 
purpose of the current scheme of Members ` Allowances with the Local Government Association 
with a view of it providing a further independent element to determining the appropriate level of 
Allowances paid to elected Members. 

20 Summary of Recommendations  

20.1 The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Council set the overall sum payable under the Member 
Allowance Scheme each year in conjunction with setting the Annual Budget and at that stage 
determine the overall affordability of the Members Allowance Scheme.  It would therefore be
possible for Members to maintain the basic recommended level of Allowances set out in this 
report,  increase them in line with the specific secondary recommendations in this report and if 
adverse circumstances arise reduce the level of allowances, depending on the general  level of 
resources available to the Council each year , subject to the overall scheme recommended by the 
Panel in this report being adhered to.

Page 27



20.2 The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Basic Allowance for 2019/2020 should not be increased 
and should be the level paid in 2018/2019 - £6030, subject if appropriate, to any annual adjustment 
determined by the annual uplifting formula applied to all allowances

20.3  The Panel RECOMMENDS therefore that from 2020/2021,and each year thereafter for  the 
currency of the Panel`s recommendations up to 2022/2023 the Council consider whether its 
financial circumstances have changed sufficiently for it determine whether the level of the Basic 
Allowance can be increased by up to £1000. Any increase should only be awarded in line with the 
general principle of affordability adopted for determining all Member Allowances.

20.4 The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Leaders Allowance for 2019/2020 should not be
increased and should be the level paid in 2018/2019 - £12,059.46, subject if appropriate, to the 
annual adjustment determined by the annual uplifting formula applied to all allowances.

20.5  The Panel RECOMMENDS therefore that from 2020/2021,and each year thereafter , for the
currency of the Panel`s recommendations up to 2022/2023 the Council consider whether its 
financial circumstances have changed sufficiently for it determine whether the level of the Leaders 
Allowance can be increased by either option 1 i.e. £6030 or option 2 i.e. £9045 plus, if applicable,  
the annual uplifting adjustment  Any increase should only be awarded in line with the general 
principle of affordability adopted for determining all Member Allowances

20.6  The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Special Responsibility Allowances for
2019/2020 be as follows:

    £
             Leader of the Council 12,059.46   +    plus                                  

                                                                                                                              uplift for 2019/2020                                                                                                                  
             (with  or without portfolio)

                         Deputy Leader with portfolio   7,842.78    +                  “ 

                         Cabinet Members with portfolio   6,511.68    +                  “

             Opposition Group Members serving on Cabinet   3,252.78    +                   “    

             (Designated Opposition Group Members performing
             Shadow portfolio roles (not serving on the Cabinet) 
             when a single party Cabinet structure is in place.        1,627          +                   “
             (This is in accord with the principle accepted
             by the then IRP in July 2009)   

             
 

Page 28



            Chair of Overview & Scrutiny  3,017.16            +                  “
   
                        Vice Chair of Overview & Scrutiny                               590.58            +                  “                         

     
            Chair of Planning  3,619.98             +                 “ 

            Vice Chair of Planning                           1324.98             +                 “ 

                        Chair of Licensing      982.26           +                  “

            Chair of Environment & Safety      575.28           +                  “ 

            Chair of Audit Committee    3,017.16           +                  “

                       Ordinary Members of Planning Committee                  982.26           +                  “

            Ordinary Members of Licensing Committee                 104.04  per sub-committee 
                                                                                                 membership      +                  “

            Ordinary Members of Environment & Safety
            Committee                   287.64           +                  “

            Chair of the Standards Committee                                  ???                  +                  “ 

           Majority Group Leader per Member       180.54 per Member
           (plus Standard Element)  +  1,291.32                      +                 “    

           Majority Group Deputy Leader        180.54 per Member  +                 “

           All Opposition Group Leaders per Member        180.54 per Member     
          (plus Standard Element)  + 1,291.32                       +                 “

           Deputy Leader Main Opposition Group                180.54 per Member    +                “

20.7   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Special Responsibility Allowances be:

          Independent Members of the Standards Committee        602.82           +                 “   
        
          Independent Members of the Museums Committee          70.38           +                 “ 

20.8    The Panel RECOMMENDS that any annual adjustment of the Allowances should be  the 
annual adjustment to officers’ salaries as determined by the NJC Scheme.

Page 29



20.9    The Panel RECOMMENDS that the HM Revenue & Customs specified mileage rates, 
currently 45p per mile regardless of the cc be paid and 24p per mile for motorcycles regardless of 
the cc be paid, with no tax implications until there are any revisions to the above rates and at the 
time that any revisions are made by HM Revenue & Customs to these rates, then the revised rates 
be implemented.

20.10 The Panel RECOMMENDS  that the subsistence allowances should be paid up to the 
maximum  rates, as set out for  Officers and these be revised in accordance to any changes in these 
rates.

20.11 The Panel RECOMMENDS that all travelling within the Borough be covered by the Basic
Allowance but that Members should continue to be provided with a car park pass or public 
transport pass for use on official business within the Borough.

20.12 The Panel RECOMMENDS that no specific travelling and subsistence allowances should  
be paid for attending civic ceremonies and that any such costs should be met  from within  the 
Basic Allowance.

20.13   The Panel RECOMMENDS that the Dependents` carers` Allowance and Childcare          
Allowance should be based on the actual costs incurred while undertaking an approved duty up to 
the Living Wage hourly rate, including up to 1 hour in total travelling to and from the place at 
which the approved duty takes place.

  

20.14   The Panel RECOMMENDS that elected Members be informed annually through a 
summary of the Scheme being made available to all elected Members and that all new Members of 
the Council are appraised of the Scheme. The Council should determine the practicalities of how 
this is best done but no Member should miss out on any payable allowance through not being 
aware. 

20.15   The Panel RECOMMENDS that Hastings Borough Council raise the issue of the fitness for 
purpose of  the current scheme of Members ` Allowances with the Local Government Association 
with a view of it providing a further independent element to determining the appropriate level of 
Allowances paid to elected Members. 

                                                                                                                             NOVEMBER 2018

Page 30



                                                                                                                    ANNEX 1

Independent Remuneration Panel 2018- Brief

Background
The Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel last sat in 2014 to consider Councillors’ 
allowances. Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 Reg 
10(5) the local authority must not rely on the annual index that it uses for longer than a period of 
four years before seeking a further recommendation from the Independent Remuneration Panel 
established in respect of that authority on the application of an index to its scheme. It is therefore 
necessary to reconvene the Panel to test the index.
Terms of Reference
The terms of reference for the panel are to undertake a full review of Councillors Allowances, 
expenses and all related issues as permitted by the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 and the Local Government Pension Scheme and Discretionary 
Compensation (Local Authority Members in England) Regulations 2003.
Guiding Principles
The reviews should be conducted with the following guiding principles;

 Conform to the legislative requirements and have regard to published guidance.
 The allowances should take account, as far as possible, of the time commitment given by 

Councillors in fulfilling their roles and responsibilities.
 The scheme should ensure, as far as practical, that a wide range of people as possible should be 

able to stand for election and that they should not be penalised in doing so. Hastings is an area of 
deprivation and our Councillors can be from these affected communities. 

 An element of Councillors’ time in terms of their work as a Councillor should be treated as 
voluntary, which should not be remunerated.

 The levels of the allowances should not be treated as salary but are an ‘allowance’.
 The assumption that all Councillors will participate as fully as possible in council business and play 

an active part in their wards and that the importance of these two roles should be reflected in the 
level of the Basic Allowance.

 The Special Responsibility Allowance payments should be banded to reflect both the time 
commitment and the workload of the identified special responsibilities.

 Councillors should be recompensed for specific costs and expenses incurred in carrying out their 
duties within the allowance. 

  The scheme should recognise the complex and often balanced political control of the council, 
which may be subject to relatively frequent change given the two yearly electoral cycles adopted 
by the council.

 The scheme should anticipate a number of possible officer/service structures which might be 
adopted by the council and which would avoid the necessity for comprehensive reviews on a very 
regular basis.

Page 31



 The reviewed scheme should take account of payments included in the current scheme and any 
changes which might be recommended should be balanced with the interests of council tax payers 
in the borough.

Specific Requirements
In the interests of economy and administration, the council request that the IRP makes 
recommendations on allowances for a 4 year period (2019-2023) with an annual 
adjustment/increase each year, as appropriate. However, it is noted that should Hastings Borough 
Council make a significant change to its decision-making structure, a further review may be 
necessary.
In accordance with the regulations the IRP will need to produce a report making recommendations;

a) As to the responsibilities or duties in respect of which the following should be available-
i. Special responsibility allowance

ii. Travelling and subsistence allowance; and
iii. Co-optees’ allowance

b) As to the amount of such allowances and as to the amount of basis allowance;
c) As to whether dependants’ carers’ allowance should be payable to members of an authority, and 

as to the amount of such an allowance;
d) As to whether, in the event that the scheme is amended at any time so as to affect an allowance 

payable for the year in which the amendment is made, payment of allowances may be backdated 
in accordance with regulation 10(6);

e) As to whether adjustments to the level of allowances may be determined according to an index 
and if so which index and how long that index should apply, subject to a maximum of four years, 
before its application is reviewed;

In addition to the above Hastings Borough Council have specific requests that it wishes the IRP to 
consider, as followed

 Bicycle mileage allowance- Currently not specified as part of members travelling allowance
 Hardship fund- Not part of the current members allowances regulations but would want IRPs 

recommendations on how a scheme for members would work

Officer Support/ Information to be provided
Hastings Borough Council will provide administrative support to the IRP as required. As a 
minimum the IRP members will receive the following information to facilitate their deliberations:

 Results from an all member questionnaire.
 Current decision making structures and political make-up.
 The latest survey of Members’ Allowances by South East Employers for the whole south east.
 Previous years’ IRP reports.

Page 32



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 3rd December 2018

Report Title: Hastings Country Park Visitor Centre

Report By: Assistant Director, Environment and Place

Purpose of Report

Update Cabinet on the results of the re-tendering process for the construction of a new 
visitor centre at Hastings Country Park and seek approval to let a contract to the 
preferred bidder.

Recommendation(s)

1. Delegate authority to the Director of Operational Services and Assistant 
Director Financial Services and Revenues in consultation with the Lead 
councillor for Environment, Safety and Equalities to award the contract to 
build the visitor centre at Hastings Country Park to SIA Design and Build.

Reasons for Recommendations

Following Cabinet decision of 21st May 2018 to award a contract to a named principal 
contractor and a consortium of straw bale builders to build the visitor centre at Hastings 
Country Park, the structural and commercial workings of the consortium could not be 
finalised in an acceptable time. 

We therefore re-tendered the project through the Sussex Procurement Hub and a 
different contractor was identified as the preferred bidder.  A Cabinet decision is 
therefore now required to let the contract to this new principal contractor.

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



Report Template v29.0

 

Background

2. On 21st May Cabinet approved an increased budget for the visitor centre project 
reflecting additional EU funding and associated match funding from the council.  
Authority was also delegated to senior management to let a contract to a named 
principal contractor co-ordinating a consortium of specialist contractors/artisans to 
build the new visitor centre.  

3. Unfortunately the structural and commercial workings of the consortium could not 
be finalised in an acceptable time to realise the project.  

4. Following legal advice we re-tendered the scheme through the Sussex 
Procurement Hub.  The invitation to tender was issued on 21st September 2018 
with returns deadline by 22nd October 2018.  This report updates Cabinet and 
seeks approval to let the contract to the preferred bidder.

Tender outcome

5. We received three tender returns by the deadline of 22nd of October.  The tender 
returns were evaluated by the project team, moderated by the Sussex Procurement 
Hub.  The tenders were scored on 60/40 quality/cost ratio.  The budget was set at 
£660,000 and published with the tenders.

6. The total scores for the evaluation were;

a. Bidder A scored a total of 84 points and was within budget.

b. Bidder B scored a total of 62.95 points and was within budget.

c. Bidder C scored a total of 35.74 points and was significantly over budget.

7. There was little cost difference between bidder A and bidder B.  Both came in a 
little under budget.  However bidder A scored highest on all counts of quality and 
cost.   

8. Bidder A is a partnership lead by a principle contractor with extensive experience in 
sustainable buildings.  A number of straw bale companies (not those involved with 
the previous consortium) form the partnership.   

9. Points of clarification were raised with all three bidders and the responses enabled 
our due diligence assessment to be completed.

10. Officers are now in a position to recommend to Cabinet the council enters into a 
contract with the principal contractor that submitted bid A, SIA Design and Build.  

Timetable

11. The contractor has presented a clear programme to start prefabrication work off 
site during the winter period of 2018/19 and commence works on site in spring 
2019, with a view to completing within the year.  

Page 36



Report Template v29.0

Risk Management Implications

12. The procurement has been conducted under the auspices of the Sussex 
Procurement Hub.  Hastings Borough Council Legal Services have provided legal 
support and advice throughout the process.

Financial Implications

13. There are no additional financial implications as the proposed contractor submitted 
a bid within the budget of £660 000.

Wards Affected

Ore, Old Hastings

Implications

Relevant project tools applied? Yes

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness no
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) no
Risk Management yes
Environmental Issues no
Economic/Financial Implications no
Human Rights Act no
Organisational Consequences no
Local People’s Views no
Anti-Poverty no

Additional Information

Insert a list of appendices and/or additional documents.  Report writers are encouraged 
to use links to existing information, rather than appending large documents. 

Officer to Contact

Officer Name Murray Davidson
Officer Email Address mdavidson@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number 451107

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 3rd December 2018

Report Title: Joint Waste Contract Tenders

Report By: Mike Hepworth
Assistant Director Environment and Place

Purpose of Report

To update Cabinet on the final phase of the East Sussex Joint Waste Contract 
procurement project, which was reported to the East Sussex Joint Waste and Recycling 
Committee at their meeting on 30th November 2018, where Hastings was represented 
by Councillors Chowney and Fitzgerald.

The report proposes that the Hastings Borough Council Cabinet should recommend 
that Full Council agree to the Joint Waste Partnership awarding the Waste Collection, 
Recycling Street and Beach Cleaning and Associated Services Contract to contractor 
A, as set out in the Joint Waste and Recycling Committee report of 30th November 
2018 which is attached to the associated Part Two report.

Recommendation(s)

That Cabinet recommend that Full Council should approve:-

1) the appointment of Contractor A for the Waste Collection, Recycling, Street and 
Beach Cleaning and Associated Services Contract (excludes Street and Beach 
Cleaning and Bulky Household Waste Collection for Hastings BC);

2) that the Director of Operational Services in consultation with the Lead Councillor 
for Environment and Place and Equalities, be authorised to finalise details relating to 
the implementation of the contract and enter into contract with Contractor A;

3) the authorisation of the Lead Director of the Administering Authority of the joint 
waste project to notify Contractors of the intent to award the contract;

4) financial provision of £55,215 per annum (subject to regular review in line with 
costs) to fund the centralised partnership client costs;

5) financial provision to fund the Hastings proportion of the total contract price as 
set out in the Joint Waste and Recycling Committee report attached to the associated 
Part Two report, including allowance for adjustments at the start of the contract, and for 
ad-hoc requests and container purchases throughout the contract period;

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



Report Template v29.0

6) that arrangements be made to inform residents about the collection system to be 
implemented from 29th June 2019;

7) provision be made for the review of customer service processes, enhancement 
of ICT systems and mobile equipment for council staff as necessary;

8) that suitable provision should be made for the client roles and liabilities under 
the contract.

Reasons for Recommendations

The recommendations are made based upon the results of the joint waste procurement 
process, which has been thorough and robust.
It is essential that that there is continuity of service for the Council's refuse and 
recycling services when the current contract with Kier Environmental Services Ltd ends 
on 29th June 2019.

Page 40



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

1. On 17th July 2017 Cabinet considered a report called "Future Waste and 
Cleansing Services", and unanimously agreed the recommendations to:-

 Commit to and participate in a joint waste services procurement with the 
East Sussex Joint Waste Partnership for new waste services from 29th 
June 2019; and

 Develop arrangements for a potential in-house street and beach 
cleansing, bulky waste and fly tip removal service to operate in Hastings 
from 29th June 2019.

2. On 2nd July 2018 Cabinet considered a report called "Agreeing the Delivery 
Model for the Next Hastings Street Cleansing Service", and recommended 
that Full Council approve the proposal to provide the next street and beach 
cleansing, fly tip removal and bulky waste service through a new in-house 
direct service organisation.  Full Council subsequently approved this 
recommendation.

3. The 2nd July Cabinet report also provided an update on the joint waste 
procurement process which was progressing well.  That process has now 
almost concluded, having reached the final stage where a preferred bidder 
has been identified, and on the 30th November the East Sussex Joint Waste 
and Recycling Committee (JWRC) considered a report setting out an 
analysis of the 3 tenders and making a recommendation for contract award.

4. The JWRC report and associated appendices are attached to the Part Two 
report.  The JWRC does not have authority to award the contract on behalf 
of each council and is therefore referring the recommendation for contract 
award to each cabinet.  It is obviously important that the same conclusions 
are reached by each cabinet for all three councils to proceed with the 
contract.

5. For this council the decision to award the new contract is a matter for Full 
Council consideration.  This report therefore proposes that cabinet should 
recommend that Full Council approves the recommendations set out above, 
to enable the Joint Waste Partnership to award the contract to Contractor A.

Other Considerations

6. As part of the overall waste services project management programme there 
are 14 individual work streams covering all aspects of the implementation of 
the new cleansing services DSO and the mobilisation of the new refuse and 
recycling contract.

7. There is a work stream focussed on communications with residents that is 
already planning the arrangements needed to inform residents about the 
collection system to be implemented from 29th June 2019.

Page 41



Report Template v29.0

8. There is also a work stream planning the review of customer service 
processes, enhancement of ICT system and mobile equipment for council 
staff monitoring the new contract.  We are not aware of the need for any 
significant investment in new mobile equipment for our staff as the existing 
mobile devices should be sufficient.  The underlying IT system used by 
contractor A is the same as the current contractor uses, so the broad 
approach will be the same, and is already known to us.

9. There are other work streams focussed on the demobilisation of the existing 
Kier contract and the handover of council assets to the incoming contractor, 
and the TUPE transfer of Kier staff to the incoming contractor, the new 
Hastings DSO, and the new Eastbourne ‘Teckal’ arms-length company.

Financial Implications for the council (as advised by the Chief 
Finance Officer)

10. The financial implications for these proposals are included in Part Two due 
to the commercially sensitive nature of the information.

Wards Affected

All Wards

Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness No
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) No
Risk Management No
Environmental Issues No
Economic/Financial Implications Yes
Human Rights Act No
Organisational Consequences No
Local People’s Views No
Anti-Poverty No

Additional Information

Contained in the associated Part Two report on this agenda.

Officer to Contact

Mike Hepworth – Assistant Director Environment and Place
mhepworth@hastings.gov.uk 
01424 783332

Page 42

mailto:mhepworth@hastings.gov.uk


Report Template v29.0

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 51

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting Held on 5 November 2018
	6 Members' allowance index review
	IMRP Final Report 2018

	7 Hastings Country Park Visitor Centre
	8 Joint Waste Contract Tenders
	10 Joint Waste Contract Tenders
	APPENDIX ONE JWRC181130 - 9.1 - covering report - CONFIDENTIAL
	JWRC181130 - 9.1 - Appendix 1 - CONFIDENTIAL
	JWRC181130 - 9.1 - Appendix 2 - CONFIDENTIAL
	JWRC181130 - 9.1 - Appendix 3 - CONFIDENTIAL


